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Tuesday, July 7, 2009

--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:   Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  Niagara-on-the-Lake has applied to the Ontario Energy Board for an order revising its retail transmission service rates.  The Board assigned file number EB-2009-0149 to this application.

In the application, Niagara-on-the-Lake requested approval for the reduction of RTS connection rates and one-year rate riders to repay customers.  Niagara-on-the-Lake has also requested the Board's approval of a settlement to Hydro One for an accrued connection liability.

This latter request is unusual in a rates proceeding, and, therefore, we decided to convene an oral proceeding on issues today to understand that request.  We need to clearly understand what relief the applicant is seeking and if this hearing is properly constituted to provide that relief.  

It is not the Board's intention to hear evidence today, but, rather, to receive submissions from the parties on the issues.

With that, may I have appearances, please?  Niagara-on-the-Lake?
Appearances:

MR. HUNTINGDON:  Good morning.  I am Jim Huntingdon.  I am president of Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro.

MR. WORMWELL:  Philip Wormwell, director of corporate services.


MR. RYAN:  Jim Ryan, chairman of the board.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. STEINSCHIFTER:  David Steinschifter, operations manager.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Huntingdon, you can remain seated.  It works best, actually, because your microphones are down at seating level, and the microphones -- I don't know if the microphone was turned on.  Was it not?  The microphones are buttons in front of you, if you turn on the button when you speak.  You don't need to do it all the time.  Turn it on and off when you speak.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  I'm Michael Engelberg, counsel for Hydro One Networks.  With me I have Philip Poon, advisor, from regulatory affairs, and Robert Davidson, account executive from customer business relations.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Engelberg.  Board Staff?

MS. SEBALJ:  Good morning.  I'm Kristi Sebalj, Board counsel, and with me are Silvan Cheung and Martin Davies from Board Staff.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Sebalj.

The way we will proceed, for Niagara-on-the-Lake's edification, because I don't think you have been here very often -- the way we will proceed, we will hear your submission on the issues.  Help us understand what relief you are seeking.  

We have seen your material ahead of time and we know that you have a lot of details in that presentation.  We don't need to see all of the presentation, but we really need to understand the relief you are seeking, what you would like to happen.

That would be the purpose of your submission.  Then we will ask Hydro One to make a submission, Board Staff to make a submission, and then we will go back to you, Mr. Huntingdon, if you have anything that you want to clear up from the submissions that others have made.  Does that seem all right?  

All right, thank you.  You can go ahead, then, Mr. Huntingdon.
NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE HYDRO

Presentation by Mr. Huntington:


MR. HUNTINGDON:  Do I understand that you don't want to see the -- or hear a bit of an oral presentation around this, these documents?

MS. NOWINA:  How long will it take, Mr. Huntingdon?

MR. HUNTINGDON:  A half hour.

MS. NOWINA:  If that will help you explain the issues, then that is fine.  Understand it is not evidence.  It is purely you explaining your position.

MR. HUNTINGDON:  Yes, exactly.  Sure.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Madam Chair, could I make a comment here?

MS. NOWINA:  Certainly, Mr. Engelberg.

MR. ENGELBERG:  We found this presentation yesterday on the OEB's website.  It was not sent to us by Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro.  However, we did have time yesterday evening to go through it.  It is Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro's argument on the merits as to whether bypass has occurred, and whether money should be paid to Hydro One as a result of that bypass and how much money should be paid.

Hydro One recognizes that there is a long-standing dispute between the parties on that.  The presentation is correct in stating that there is a dispute, and the presentation sets out Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro's arguments on that dispute and their evidence.

In our submission, not even a half hour needs to be taken for that.  Hydro One will acknowledge, for purposes of the Board's issues day, that there is an issue.  So the only relevant matter, in our submission, is whether issue number 2 on the Board's list captures the fact that there is a dispute between the parties that needs to be determined.

Issue number 2 says:  
"Is the proposed settlement payment to Hydro One appropriate?"

Now, while Hydro One may not have worded it in that particular wording, surely we recognize that that wording is broad enough to capture the fact that there is an issue.

So I just wanted to state that we are on side with that.  There is a dispute.  It needs to be determined, whether in this proceeding or in another one.  

And Niagara-on-the-Lake has many facts to allege in its presentation.  Hydro One would have many facts to allege in its defence, which of course we're not going to do today on issues day.

MS. NOWINA:  I understand, Mr. Engelberg, and I understand the nature of the presentation.  We will not be making a decision on the merits today.

The issue that we have is if we ask Niagara-on-the-Lake to make the presentation in a different manner, that might be more difficult.  It might take longer than half an hour, since they prepared in this manner.

I am hoping that we can have a bit of a dialogue here to understand what the issues are, and how we should capture them and what kind of proceeding we are having here today.

So whatever will facilitate us doing that is what we are going to do.

I would say that since the presentation is half-an-hour long, if either the Panel Members, Staff or Hydro One have a question about the presentation that you would like to clarify during the midst of the presentation, let's stop and deal with it, rather than have to flip back through slides and ask questions.  We will handle it that way.  

Go ahead, Mr. Huntingdon.

MR. HUNTINGDON:  Do you mind if I stand?

MS. NOWINA:  You won't be heard if you stand, Mr. Huntingdon, so I would prefer that you sit and turn on your microphone.

MR. HUNTINGDON:  Okay.  It is on.

MS. NOWINA:  It is on, okay.

MR. HUNTINGDON:  I should start off by mentioning that this presentation was sent to Hydro One, as instructed, in the same e-mail that it was sent to the Energy Board.  It was sent to regulatory@hydroone.com.  So I am not sure if there was a glitch in receiving that.

I would like to start by saying that this dispute has taken -- has been ongoing for at least ten years.  It started with the Hydro One load assignment at a time where our load was growing, and we viewed that as a short-term fix.  I will get into that later.

For the last nine-and-a-half years, with the current Hydro One, we have had -- we have attempted to resolve this on a number of occasions, and Hydro One has been unwilling to relinquish that and we have been unwilling to accept the load assignment.

You will notice on Exhibit 1 -- this is the crux of our argument -- these are the Stanley Street auto transformers, and maybe I could take a minute to show you on the board here.

This is the municipal limits of Niagara-on-the-Lake here.  The Stanley station is approximately 3 kilometres south of Niagara-on-the-Lake.  And the main station here is a 115 to 13.8 kV, and we require 27.6.  So they're further stepped up through four units, and then that is distributed north to our boundary.

Going back to the original supply, the utility at one time was only the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake, which is up in this corner, and it was supplied via two pole lines, two twin pole lines back to Stanley.  

We trace our utility back to 1892, so it is a very long history.  These units, I am not sure of the exact date they were put in, but by looking at them, you could see they're probably 1950s vintage, possibly a rewind.  We haven't got that information, but perhaps Hydro One could clarify that at some point.

Getting into the 1983 -- sorry, I am just going to back up here a little bit.

The distribution --

MS. NOWINA:  Are you able to sit, Mr. Huntingdon?

MR. HUNTINGDON:  Yes, sorry.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. HUNTINGDON:  The distribution out of the Stanley transformers is, as I mentioned, via two pole lines, two 27.6 pole lines that you see a picture of here that head north along Stanley Avenue, wind along the hydro reservoir.  And this is a good overview where the point -- that is our municipal boundary, and Stanley is down in this area.  So it is going along Stanley Avenue, and then gets into -- this is the escarpment.

The actual line, it is difficult to see, but there is a red line here that emanates up, and that is the location of the pole line.

When it gets to our municipal boundary, it actually, the original supply went through a rock quarry and these are a couple of pictures of what that rock quarry looks like, very inaccessible, rough terrain.  So we have kind of taken this over.  We have always had -- we had difficulty maintaining the line.  It wasn't in great shape.  

That gives you kind of a flavour as to what we are dealing with.  This is a picture of the rock quarry that it passes through and the line actually follows a route something like this and down this, the escarpment here, it goes down the escarpment.  

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Huntingdon, when you say you have taken it over, what is the demarcation point of doing that?  Is that within the municipal boundary? 

MR. HUNTINGDON:  Yes.  Right at the municipal boundary which is at this location here. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thanks. 

MR. HUNTINGDON:  So in 1983, January 1983, the Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro-electric Commission took over the entire municipal boundary from Ontario Hydro in those days.  So it went from a small little utility to the full boundary.  

Shortly after that, a couple of years later due to load growth, Ontario Hydro commissioned a new transformer station called Niagara-on-the-Lake DS.  It is located right in this area here, kind of a central location.  It was actually two, 15, 25-mVa units.  That was put in to address the load growth of the utility.  

Now, shortly after that, basically all of the load was shifted from the Stanley supply on to that new station.  The only exception was, there was a 13.8 kV direct line that came out and fed the international bridge in this area.  And that was about 400 kilowatts of load.  

So for the next 13 years, that's basically all that stayed on.  This is a typical 1990s chart of our load.  A little difficult to see, but you will notice that it is pretty well month-to-month.  It is about 400 kilowatts of load.  There are some exceptions, the blue line on the end that is feeding an Ontario Power Generation pump generating station on a load transfer, but just in general that is all that was used for full 13 years.  

We received a letter from our current Ontario Hydro rep in 1993 and they indicated that they had purchased land to build us a new station in Niagara-on-the-Lake south, somewhere, we ended up building here, but they purchased property right in this location.  

And this station had been scheduled for 1997 and at that Time, the auto transformers here would be removed.  

At the same time or shortly after, we received a request from the rock quarry operators to remove the pole line, just I guess it hampered their operation.  

We were -- we took a look at the poles to assess them.  They were in poor shape and as you have seen from the photographs it was difficult to maintain. 

MS. SEBALJ:  Can I just interrupt for one second, Mr. Huntingdon. 

MR. HUNTINGDON:  Certainly. 

MS. SEBALJ:  Niagara-on-the-Lake has provided a package which I believe is basically a magnification of some of the letters that were difficult to read in the presentation.  If I can just mark that as an exhibit. 

MS. NOWINA:  Let's do that, yes.  

MS. SEBALJ:  It will be Exhibit K1.1.  
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE INFORMATION PACKAGE 

MS. SEBALJ:  I believe all of the panel members have it in front of them. 

MS. NOWINA:  We do.  

MR. HUNTINGDON:  Okay.  The quarry operator, getting back to this, asked if we could remove the pole line or relocate it.  So at that time, based on the letter that we had, the condition of the poles, we decided to reroute the line and I think it is better shown on here, so that the line used to follow through the escarpment.  So we rerouted the line down along a town line road, along road allowance and in the village of St. David's which is right in that location.  

The line was constructed as a local feeder.  In fact it was actually supplying load from the St. David's area up to a subdivision beside the quarry and was never meant to be a major feeder of any kind. 

The Hydro One feeders that supplied us were at one time two, 600-amp feeders.  This line here was set up to deliver a maximum of 300, 300 amps.  

As our load continued to grow, we had a meeting with Hydro One – sorry, Ontario Hydro in March of 1999.  We brought with us a map showing the new Glendale area which is, you may be familiar with Niagara-on-the-Lake, you drive by, it is the White Oaks development, the new Niagara College, a large residential area down in the south.  At that meeting in March, we explained that the college had just been constructed.  That's a meg and a half load, 1.5, sorry, 1500 kVa, and as well they had broken down for the new tower at the White Oaks.  Leon's had just purchased this property and were planning to purchased this property and would were planning to put in half a megawatt supply.  And this residential subdivision had just kicked off.  So we knew at this time we needed new station.  We had exceeded or very close to the borderline of the current Niagara-on-the-Lake station.  That's up here.  

During the meeting -- now keep in mind this is just a few months away from Ontario Hydro becoming Hydro One, a private company.  They were involved in the market rule creation.  And during that meeting we were told that, no, they were not going to build a new station despite the fact that they had purchased property and our load, in our view, required a new station.  

Instead they told us and there is a quote here that they were prepared to utilize five to 10 megawatts of the 20-megawatt capacity out of the Stanley Street auto transformers and that this would be constructed close to when we reached just over a capacity on the station.  

And the notes claim that Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro advised Ontario Hydro at that time that it accepts this supply option.  

Also, in the evidence we had a reply to these minute notes and immediately responded on April 29 saying:
"The commission has always had a position that a new transformer station is not only required for long-term growth but as a reliable back up to Niagara-on-the-Lake DS.  The decision to utilize Stanley TS as a future supply point was made solely by Ontario Hydro."  

So in other words, we established this was not our decision, it was solely made by Ontario Hydro at that time.  Our concern there was that we did just have the Niagara-on-the-Lake station and there were some supply problems and we were told at that time that they could haul a mobile station down out of Peterborough, it would take a day or two if we were out of power.  We always had concerns with this supply arrangement.  We needed another station to back up the Niagara-on-the-Lake station.  

Our records indicate that just two years after this unilateral decision, the peak summer load of Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro reached 45.1 mVa.  A little hard to read again but you will see it up here.  The combined 10 megawatts that Hydro One has indicated they could provide out of Stanley, plus this station at 31.8, comes to -- it says 41.6, I apologize, it should say 41.8.  So we exceeded that just two years after this meeting.  

Further, a year later, the hot summer of 2002, we exceeded 50 megavolts, megavolt amps, a full 20 percent after the combined rated capacity they had indicated.  

This truly indicates we did need a new station.  

In 2001, one of the first priorities of the new board of directors -- remember we are a new company now -- was to commence plans for the construction of a new transformer station in Niagara-on-the-Lake south.  The new market rules came out just months after the 1999 meeting with Hydro One, and to no surprise they placed all of the financial burden on the new utility to purchase or build their own transformer station.  

Further, they assigned Hydro One at this time assigned 10 megawatts of the Stanley load and claimed it would be embedded under the market rules and the result of this was a load assignment that guaranteed Hydro One close to $110,000 a year in transformation revenue.  

Hydro One -- Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro did attempt out of necessity -- we had a couple of tight years before we could build a new station -- to use this supply, but we had quite a bit of difficulty.  

So what changed in 1999 with the Stanley step-up supply?  You will remember that, that was a historical supply to us.  

Prior to the 1980s, 27,000-volt distribution was considered subtransmission.  Very few customers had direct 27.6 supply.  Only the large industrial customers.  When it fed Niagara-on-the-Lake, it fed municipal substations which had tap changers that could adjust voltage.

Since the 1980s technology allowed utilities to distribute at 27.6, it resulted in a lot of line loss reduction, a much more efficient level to distribute at.

When I started with the local utility, our line losses were in the neighbourhood of 10 percent, and it was mostly for kV distribution.  We have since converted the majority of our network to 27.6 directly, and we have cut our line losses down to 4.6 percent.

So during that period from 1980 to 1999, we converted most of our customers to the 27.6 level.  These customers do not have taps to be able to adjust their voltage like we used to be able to do at the municipal substations.

Secondly, the single pole line, the M20 that we constructed in the mid '90s through St. David's, was not designed to deliver 10 megawatts of power.  It was only designed to deliver power backup to the subdivision near the quarry.

Finally, the Stanley Street auto transformers possess manual taps, which means that Hydro One cannot automatically adjust the tap, the voltage level on those units.  It has to be done back at the main Stanley transformer station, which is the 115 to 13.8 station.  I may be getting a little technical here, but, as a result, we would have low voltage down in our area.  We would call the operator, who would boost the voltage at the main station, which supplied Niagara Falls Hydro customers.

Niagara Falls Hydro customers would get high voltage.  They would call the operator through their hydro.  The operators would drop the voltage.  The voltages were going up and down.

Our major customer on that feeder, Kraft Canada, were so upset by the voltage swings that they were compelled to write a letter that we have offered as evidence.

The response from Hydro One was simply, Hey, we delivered the power.  It meets CSA requirements at your boundary.  It is up to you to take it from here.

So now we are not only on the hook for accepting this supply that we had difficulty utilizing, but we would also have to install expensive regulation equipment.

Just ten months later, after receiving this Stanley supply -- or, sorry, after the Hydro One response attached there, we energized our new Niagara-on-the-Lake transformer station in Niagara-on-the-Lake south, and I think I pointed to that in that area, which really meant we had two efficient stations and we really didn't need the Stanley supply.  

It was only a short gap measure until we could get this station constructed.

To ensure that Hydro One connected our new transformer station, prior to the peaks of summer season in 2003, we were forced to sign a CCRA agreement, which effectively embedded the Stanley load assignment, and we have also submitted a couple of those letters.

MS. NOWINA:  What do you mean when you say you were forced to sign a CCRA?

MR. HUNTINGDON:  If you look at Exhibit 22, I have difficulty reading it here, but it basically state that, Sign this by March 22nd or basically there is no guarantee you are going to be connected.  
"As discussed, we require the assigned CCRA agreements by Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro no later than Monday, March 3rd, 2003 so we can instruct our line people to begin work on the project."

So they were prepared to hold up the project until we signed this CCRA agreement.  We made it very clear that we never agreed.  We were signing it under protest, and we never agreed with the load assignment that is now four years prior to this CCRA agreement.

We have had fruitless negotiations for the last ten years with Hydro One.  On several occasions, they have come down to visit us.  We have actually met under OEB direction, and Hydro One has not relinquished their view that this is a legal load assignment.

In 2007, we have evidence here of our formal application to the OEB to settle this dispute, because the dispute resolution process was going nowhere.

Where we're at today, we have reached a point we have had to accrue costs for the customers.  We can't use the supply.  We need some direction to go forward.

What we have prepared in our rate application here is what we believe is a fair settlement.  We do not accept this as a bypass in Hydro's terms.  Our last meeting, Hydro One requested close to $900,000 to waive this assignment.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Huntingdon, sorry to interrupt you.  You mentioned bypass.  You don't accept Hydro One's characterization to say this is a bypass.  Did you hear from the Board anything about bypass?

MR. HUNTINGDON:  No.  We sent it through -- it went through the compliance department, and we never had clear direction on their view as to whether it is a bypass, or not.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right, thank you.  Not having clear direction, there is a correspondence that mentions bypass?

MR. HUNTINGDON:  From Hydro One?

MR. VLAHOS:  From the Board?

MR. HUNTINGDON:  No.

MR. VLAHOS:  No?

MR. HUNTINGDON:  No.

MR. ENGELBERG:  If I could perhaps help out here?

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, could you, please?

MS. NOWINA:  Sure.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I'm sorry, I don't have copies for other people, but certainly my friend, Ms. Sebalj, has seen the letter, and I can provide a copy for people to make copies, but I am looking at a letter dated August 29th, 2008 on Board letterhead from Brian Houston, chief compliance officer.

The first two sentences of the letter read as follows -- they're addressed to Hydro One:
"Thank you for your letter of April 24th, 2008 regarding the alleged bypass of Stanley TS by Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro.  As indicated in my earlier letter, it is my view that bypass has occurred.  In order to resolve this dispute, it is necessary to determine the magnitude of that bypass and its monetary value in accordance with the following provisions of the Transmission System Code."  

Then he cites section 6.7.7(a) and 6.7.7 as the basis for how to determine the monetary value of the bypass that occurred, and the earlier letter to which Mr. Houston refers, I believe, is an earlier letter dated February 22nd, 2008, in which he also states that bypass has occurred.  That's his opinion.

MS. NOWINA:  Can you tell from those documents if Niagara-on-the-Lake was copied on them?

MR. ENGELBERG:  No, I don't see that there is a CC, but I know the parties -- I know the parties had discussions after that.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Huntingdon, you have no recollection?

MR. HUNTINGDON:  No recollection, no record.  I had verbal discussions with Mr. Houston and he asked us to get together with Hydro One, again, to settle the dispute, but at no time did he say that this was a bypass.

He did mention that -- I will get into this a little later, that the current code, the 2005 Transmission Code, would have not allowed this bypass situation to -- sorry, load assignment to be placed on Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro.

MS. NOWINA:  The current code?

MR. HUNTINGDON:  The current code.

MS. NOWINA:  But he didn't necessarily say that that applied retrospectively?

MR. HUNTINGDON:  Well, I would like to go over one of the issues related to that, if I may.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay, continue.

MR. HUNTINGDON:  Some of the considerations for the Board, first of all, the decision to prepare and deliver the Stanley load in 1999 was made solely by Ontario Hydro.  Niagara-on-the-Lake hydro clearly demonstrated our opposition.

The Ontario Energy Board Transmission System Code phase 1 policy decision with decisions 4.8.1 states that this decision must be, quote:
"...made jointly between the transmitter and the customer with agreement subject to a timely dispute resolution process."

This was certainly not a joint decision, and ten years has passed without resolution.

A second point we would like to make is that the Ontario Energy Board, in the same document, states that the determination of whether available capacity is adequate should be based on both local and system-wide considerations.

Niagara-on-the-Lake contends that Ontario Hydro did not consider the fact that the auto transformers can no longer deliver efficient 27.6 supply to our direct customers, which made up most of our customers at that point, and that the rerouted M20 through our residential area was now inadequate to deliver the 10 megawatts of power.

Thirdly, in the Ontario -- Hydro One CCRA planning document describes available capacity as:  

"That portion of the existing capacity which can effectively and economically, with Hydro One's agreement, supply the customer's peak load.  This applies to Hydro One Networks Inc.'s own facilities, shared facilities and customer-owned facilities."


Niagara-on-the-Lake constructed a 42 mVa transformer station at a cost of $74,000 a megawatt including land.  

Hydro One's latest buyout figure equates to $900,000, and $90,000 a megawatt.  To our knowledge, no financial evaluation was ever done of this sort, and was never carried out and certainly never shared with Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro.  Therefore Ontario Hydro did not choose the most economical solution as per their attached policy, but simply their lowest cost option.  

Fourthly, the Ontario Energy Board Transmission Code, also the same document, the phase 1 policy, states -- principles states that: Parties are able to effect efficiencies and use of their electricity without facing punitive measures or disincentives where a transmitter may impose a minimum payment obligation.  

Now, I need to quickly show you on this, the Stanley station, the generator, Sir Adam Beck is right here it is at 13.8, steps up to 115, steps down to the station to 13.8, steps up to 27.6, goes to our boundary.  And we have to distribute it and step it down for use.  

Every time there is a step in the -- a change in the transformation level there is a loss of about 1 percent of your energy.  

This is certainly a not an efficient means, especially in this day and age of delivering power to Niagara-on-the-Lake.  

At one point, we were getting bills from Hydro One and not utilizing the Stanley supply and the bills were indicating that 11,000 kilowatt-hours were consumed just keeping these auto transformers idling, which is certainly an outrageous amount.  

This is an inefficient supply considering the modern facilities that Niagara-on-the-Lake had in their two new stations.  

Fifthly, Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro contends that in March 1999, Ontario Hydro was actively involved in the development of the new market rules and utilized this knowledge for financial gain.  

Ontario Hydro was fully aware of the potential load impact of the Glendale area park that was presented at that meeting and unilaterally decided to provide an extremely short-term solution, which we refer to as a Band-Aid solution, until our new station could be built just three years later, four years later.  We attach a 2001 planning document which would have had the same number of projects presented to Hydro One back in 1999.  

This is a 2001 document but a lot of the projects were underway and they're all indicated there.  

The Ontario Hydro minutes from the March meeting stated that it was noted that any new capacity installed at this time such as a Stanley TS supply to Niagara-on-the-Lake would be considered embedded under market design rules.  This is in 1999.  We never even heard of embedded load.  So obviously Hydro One had inside information as to the financial benefit of embedding this, and the fact that we had to now pay for our own station.  

We questioned this embedded term and the answer is presented in the minutes.  

Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro suggests that the guaranteed transmission revenues of approximately $110,000 a year, from this embedded supply, may not have been included in the original incorporating revenues of Hydro One in 1999.  

The Stanley facility had not delivered any significant revenue from Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro for over 13 years.  Based on this, there would be no negative impact on the pool that Hydro One is implying at this current time.  

In 2007, the Ontario Energy Board compliance officer reviewed our dispute with Hydro One and verbally indicated that this unilateral assigned load would not have been allowed under the provisions of the July 2005 Transmission Code.  Section 6.2.1:  
"Available capacity states the transmitter shall not assign available capacity on network facilities.  A transmitter shall not assign available capacity on its connection facilities for back-up purposes.  Subject to sections 3.0.5 and .9, a transmitter shall not enforce any provision of this agreement that is contrary or inconsistent with the Code, apply any provision of any agreement in a matter that is contrary or inconsistent with this Code, or require any person to enter into an agreement that contains a provision that is contrary or inconsistent with this Code or otherwise agree to terms and conditions that are contrary or inconsistent with this Code."  

The TSE is very specific that Hydro One may not assign load network facilities.  The TSE also states that in section 3.0.6 that: 
"This applies to an agreement regardless of whether an agreement was entered in before the Code revision date."  

At this time, we have presented our case.  We have our current RTR application, and if you have any questions on the actual calculations I am sure Philip, who worked out the proposal, could answer any questions that you may have there.  

MS. NOWINA:  I don't think we have any questions on the calculations.  

I would like to ask for some clarification, then, on your position on the issues list, because that is the concern before us today.  

So do you have a copy of the issues list that was attached to the Procedural Order No. 1, the draft issues list, do you have a copy of that?  

MR. HUNTINGDON:  Yes we do, yes.  The first question:  Are the levels proposed for retail transmission service connection appropriate?  We believe what we have presented are.  

MS. NOWINA:  Before we go through the issues, Mr. Huntingdon, what is the outcome that you would hope for from this proceeding?  What do you expect the Board to decide or what would you like the Board to decide?  

MR. HUNTINGDON:  In our view, what Hydro One actually constructed to make that Stanley supply ready, we believe to be in the area of $200,000 or less.  That was 10 years ago.  

So we would like to pay for that through our customers, what we have accrued from our customers, and at the same time reduce our rates going forward.  I think that is the main crux of our argument 

MS. NOWINA:  So you want a settlement to Hydro One for that asset.  

MR. HUNTINGDON:  Yes.  

MS. NOWINA:  Regarding the Transmission System Code, do you think it is necessary to make a finding here on the Transmission System Code whether or not there has been a bypass, for example?  Or whether or not Hydro One was abiding by the Transmission System Code when it assigned the load?  

Are you asking for a finding on those elements?  

MR. HUNTINGDON:  We would like the Board to agree with that perspective.  

MR. RYAN:  May I add something?

MR. HUNTINGDON:  Yes, of course. 

MS. NOWINA:  Yes. 

MR. RYAN:  If we could make this go away without expanding it into something that requires more effort, we would love to do it and that was our intention.  

We were sort of at the end of our rope.  We went through the process.  Nothing happened.  And in the end, it is just our customers' money that we are sitting on and in future may be responsible for.  

So if we could make this go away, we would.  

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  Another question, then, Mr. Huntingdon.  

If we were to put the settlement issue aside and deal with it in some other manner, is there still a rates case here regarding what, on this list, are issues 1 and 3.  If the settlement was not dealt with, and you still didn't know what was going to happen with that, do you want the rates issue settled, the amounts proposed for repayment, the rider set up, all of that?  Do you want that done separate and apart, could that be done separate and apart from the settlement issues?  

MR. HUNTINGDON:  Yes, of course.

MR. WORMWELL:  If I could just speak to that briefly, Philip Wormwell.  In terms of the three issues.  The first issue is are the levels of rates appropriate.  

In doing the calculations, we have assumed there is no longer any accrual of Hydro One costs for the bypass.  

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So the two are related?  

MR. WORMWELL:  That one is related.  

On number 3, which is also rates thing, we are still continuing to collect $10,000 a month from our customers based on an assumption that the costs -- to which the balancing revenues are included in the Hydro One.  

We were proposing to pay the customers back on the basis that those costs no longer exist.  So that one is related as well.  So it is really a package of three.  

MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  I understand.  

All right, thank you very much.  

Mr. Engelberg.  
Submissions by Mr. Engleberg:

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I would also have to agree on that last point, that it is a package of three and that one can't be determined without the other matter.  

Therefore, the only question as I stated before regarding the issues list is, it is our submission that the wording of the issues list, 1, 2 and 3, does reflect what needs to be determined in order to make a decision in this matter, although, as I also stated before, I wouldn't have chosen that particular wording for Issue No. 2, because it refers to a settlement.

I think, as we have heard today, there is no settlement.  There really is no settlement, at all.  It is two parties that are in dispute over whether anything is owed and, if anything is owed, how much is the amount of that payment?

Now, I understand from what Mr. Huntingdon has said today that he was not aware that the compliance officer of the Board has stated for over a year that a bypass has occurred and what needs to be determined now is the amount of the payment to be made by Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro to Hydro One.

I also understand that the statements and written letters of the chief compliance officer are opinions and that they are not binding on the Board.

However, I don't want to put my friends on the spot today.  I don't know whether their stance on the issue of negotiations and what they would be prepared to pay would be any different as a result of their finding out that the chief compliance officer of the Board has given his opinion that bypass has occurred and that there is money to be paid.

Perhaps that won't make any difference, and I don't really expect an answer today.

If it does make a difference, the parties could sit down and negotiate.

If it doesn't make a difference, then the question is how the parties go forward to get a determination of this issue by the Board on its merits.

I guess the question then would be:  Can it be done in this type of rates hearing?  Does it need to be done in a separate proceeding, and would possibly other parties want to intervene, given the fact that bypass is an issue that affects more than this particular LDC, possibly?

MS. NOWINA:  What is your opinion on that, Mr. Engelberg?

MR. ENGELBERG:  My opinion - and you are putting me on the spot - is that this case may be a one-off.  The circumstances may be somewhat unique and other parties, other LDCs, may not find it to be particularly informative or helpful to their particular case, but I really can't speak for them.

I do think the situation is somewhat unique from other situations, although chief compliance officer clearly found that it is bypass, and that he mentioned some of the principles of when bypass occurs.  So I really can't comment on that for other people.

MS. NOWINA:  Is it possible that the Board could go in two ways regarding issue 2?

We could work from the premise of the chief compliance officer's letter, and then say, What is the appropriate payment, given that, or we open the entire issue about whether or not by has had occurred?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, I can tell you - and I will be glad to provide copies of the letter, although Ms. Sebalj can probably get them from Mr. Houston's office - there were matters in his opinion -- I only read the first couple of sentences.

There were matters that went against Hydro One's view.  For example -- let me find it.  Just a minute.

MS. NOWINA:  Before you do that, Mr. Engelberg, Ms. Sebalj, can we have those letters put on the record in this case?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, absolutely.  I have copies now.  We will mark it as Exhibit K1.2.  I will provide copies to the Panel and Niagara-on-the-Lake.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Is K1.2 the August 29th letter and the February letter, or just --

MS. SEBALJ:  It is just the August 29th letter at this point.

MS. NOWINA:  You don't have the February letter, Ms. Sebalj?
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  Letter dated August 29, 2008 from NOTL's Chief Compliance Officer to Hydro One


MR. ENGELBERG:  I think the February 22nd, 2008 letter should also be marked as an exhibit.

MS. NOWINA:  Let's mark this one and get the second one.

MS. SEBALJ:  I am just being informed that it wasn't properly copied, so we are going to have to get proper copies for you.  I think it is missing a page, and we will get the other letter, as well.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  You know what I would like to do, Ms. Sebalj?  We will finish with Mr. Engelberg's submissions.  We will take a break, get the letters, before you make your submissions; take a few minutes to consider what we have before us.  So before we do that, Mr. Engelberg, do you want to make any further submissions?

MR. ENGELBERG:  All right.  Well, I won't go into great detail, but I will just hit some of the points.

As I mentioned, this wasn't, by any means, all in favour of Hydro One.  The chief compliance officer stated that the minimum payment obligations set out in the CCRA with respect to the 10 mVa at Stanley TS ceased to be enforceable when the TSC was revised on July 25th, 2005, being replaced by the concepts of true-ups and bypass compensation.

The opinion also went on to say that special consideration should be given in the application of the bypass provisions of the TSC to the exceptional nature of this long-standing dispute that spans the transition of the province's regulatory environment over the past decade.

And then finally the chief compliance officer's opinion was that bypass should be deemed to have occurred in 2005 when the revised TSC came into effect as a special one-off treatment for this case only.

So those are some of the points I rely on to say this wasn't, by any means, an opinion that was entirely in Hydro One's favour.

So, in that regard, picking up on your suggestion of possibilities, Hydro One is willing to go from the standpoint of the opinion given by the chief compliance officer and simply have the Board do a determination of the amount of the bypass, how much is owed.

Hydro One is also willing to do the other possibility that you mentioned, Madam Chair, which is to ignore the chief compliance officer's opinion and go back to scratch, because then Hydro One could argue the points that were not determined in its favour in the opinion of the chief compliance officer.

Then Hydro One could possibly recover some of the moneys that it feels it and its ratepayers are owed that would be foregone if the opinion of the chief compliance officer were followed.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Engelberg, I take it the dispute is just the amount of money, the amount, potential amount of settlement, is it?

MR. ENGELBERG:  From Hydro One's point of view, it is the amount of money, but what I am hearing today is that the LDC doesn't believe even that bypass has occurred.

So I think, from their point of view, we can't say that it is a dispute over the amount of money.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Mr. Huntingdon, is the dispute -- does it come to only money, the $200,000?

MR. HUNTINGDON:  We haven't really changed our view about the bypass, but we have been willing to say, Let's reach a settlement in between.

I think from Hydro One's perspective, they're worried about, Will this set a precedent for other bypass?  So we have been of the mindset that it is not a bypass.  Let's just reach a settlement, make it a one-off and get on with it, or let the Board rule on what's a...

MR. VLAHOS:  I take it the numbers were thrown around in in those meetings and those negotiations, there was no agreement?  There was no middle ground?

MR. HUNTINGDON:  Do you mind if I indulge you just for a moment to show you that last letter that we received, the $900,000? 

In the last letter from Hydro One, the bypass charges, according to them, was stated at around $900,000. 

MR. VLAHOS:  I see.

MR. HUNTINGDON:  $374,000 of that was to remove the Stanley auto transformers.

Maybe David can explain --


MR. VLAHOS:  I think the answer to my question, is, yes, your $200,000.  Hydro says it is close to a million, and that will suffice as an answer to my question and my understanding of what the issues are. 

Mr. Engelberg, I understand that whatever -- in the event of a settlement, that amount of money is what?  Is that a ratepayers' money for Hydro One?  Or is that shareholder's money?  

MR. ENGELBERG:  My understanding is that it's ratepayers' money.  Perhaps I could consult with Mr. Poon for a moment?  

MR. VLAHOS:  I would like the answer to that question.  You don't have to do it now, if you don't have the answer.  

MR. ENGELBERG:  All right.  We will have to respond to that.  

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Huntingdon, somewhere in here, the material that you filed, I am not sure that I marked it, but I think there was a word "increase," and what you meant to say is "decrease".  

I believe it is in your original application, if you just bear with me a minute.  Yes.  It is a part of your original application.  It is page 1 of 5.  

You see the page that starts with RTR connection rate reduction?  

MR. WORMWELL:  Yes.  That is an error.  It is my error.  It should say “decrease.” 

MR. VLAHOS:  So line 17, it is a decrease?  

MR. WORMWELL:  Yes, I apologize.  

MR. HUNTINGDON:  Yes.  

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions for now.  

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  What I would like to do is, I am sure the Board Staff could get those letters for all of us and give both the Board Panel and Niagara-on-the-Lake an opportunity to review those letters before we come back for Board Staff's submissions and Niagara-on-the-Lake's final submissions.  

So it is 10:30 now.  Ms. Sebalj, how much time do you think you will need?  Let's assume parties need 15 minutes to review them once you found them and made copies. 

MS. SEBALJ:  I would say if we came back at 11:00, that will be plenty of time. 

MS. NOWINA:  We will break until 11:00, but let us know if you need more time in order to review the documents. 

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

--- Recess taken at 10:26 a.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 11:00 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Well, so has everyone had a chance to review the letters?  Interesting reading.

Before we go to more submissions, I have a couple of questions.  The first one is:  When is the last time the parties, Hydro One and Niagara-on-the-Lake, sat down and discussed these issues and negotiated?  How long ago?

MR. WORMWELL:  March 25th, 2009.

MS. NOWINA:  This year?  So after -- long after these letters?

In looking at the letters now, Mr. Huntingdon, you have no recollection of seeing them?

MR. HUNTINGDON:  No, not at all.  We were not copied on any of these letters.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Engelberg, can you think of any reason why Niagara-on-the-Lake would not have received copies of these letters?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I can't think of any reason, Madam Chair.

I am aware that there was a conference call between the parties.  I don't have the date of it, and I am told that Hydro One informed Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro at that time, during the conference call, that the opinion had been given by Mr. Houston that bypass had occurred, but I have nothing in the file to show that a copy of the letter was then sent.

MS. NOWINA:  Do you recall that, Mr. Huntingdon, being told that it had happened?

MR. HUNTINGDON:  If it is what I am thinking of, we met with Hydro One reps on March 25th and we were getting close to a settlement.  I was trying to allude to it before.  There were two components to bypass settlement.

One, $374,000 was the dismantling of the auto transformers.  We made a statement that that is actually a money maker for Hydro One.  They could actually sell that asset at a reasonable price. 

MS. NOWINA:  I am not interested in the merits right now.

MR. HUNTINGDON:  No, no.  Sorry.  So that brought that settlement way down, quite a bit down.

After the meeting, I received a call.  I was on the road.  I received a call on my cell phone.  I pulled over, and there were a couple of Hydro One reps basically stating -- I do not recall anything about Brian Houston's remarks, but they did tell me that this offer that we had come to in the meeting was off the table.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  Mr. Engelberg, these letters are dated August, about a year ago.  In them, Mr. Houston asks for some information from Hydro One.  Was that information provided to the Board?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Hydro One did send a reply letter to Mr. Houston between the date of the first letter - that was February - and the date of the second letter, which was August.

MS. NOWINA:  Do you have copies of that letter?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, I do.

MS. NOWINA:  Is there anything confidential in that letter?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I don't know.  I know Ms. Sebalj just told me that she has a copy of it, as well, and I would have to look at it to see if there is anything confidential.

MS. NOWINA:  It might be something we also want to put on the record, Ms. Sebalj.

MS. SEBALJ:  The only question that arises with that is I suppose it depends on the outcome of this proceeding, whether the parties will continue to have discussions of a settlement nature or whether it is going to hearing.

The reason I held back on providing it is because it is a letter from Hydro One in the context of a compliance matter, and I thought Hydro One should have an opportunity to review it before providing it to other parties.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Madam Chair, Mr. Poon has just corrected me.  The letter was dated after the date of --

MS. NOWINA:  The second letter?

MR. ENGELBERG:  The second letter.  Not in between.

I also have an answer to the question posed by Mr. Vlahos.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I confirmed with head office that the -- any money that Hydro One would receive from this would be ratepayers' money.  None of it would be shareholders' money.

MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.

So we will hold on the discussion about the other letter for the moment, Ms. Sebalj, until after I have asked a couple of other questions.

I'm sorry, did you have a comment?

MR. RYAN:  Yes.  Madam Chair, if I can, a bit of time frame piece here.

At our board, we had not received a response back on what the status of this was through management and through the Ontario Energy Board.

On behalf of our board, not knowing that these documents existed, I wrote a letter to the Chair of the Ontario Energy Board asking what the status was of this.  I received no response to that.

I want to be really clear here where we sit.  We fundamentally believe that this was not a bypass.  That's where we come from.  On principle -- we don't want to fall on our principle here, but we fundamentally believe this was never a bypass.  What we said, though, was, Let's try to negotiate something.

So we put a number forward.  We worked it up and we put a number forward.  What we don't want to get ourselves into a situation is what I call Russian-style negotiation, where we gave to get some resolution and we lose fundamentally what our principle was.

So we have -- I want to be clear on that.  If we have to fall back to, We disagree this is a bypass, then we want to be clear we will do that, but we would prefer to settle this, because it is -- no matter how we cut it, it is our customers' money, and they're expecting us to do the right thing here.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. RYAN:  I don't want to pontificate, but I thought we should be clear.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

Having seen the letters and having had the discussions we've had today, are the parties interested in taking more time to discuss this issue, either today, over the next couple of days, before we make a decision on the issues in this hearing?

Are you interested in taking more time or would you like us to proceed in making a decision with what we now have before us?

MR. HUNTINGDON:  We would appreciate more time.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Huntingdon.  Is Hydro One willing to enter into further discussions with Niagara-on-the-Lake?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Hydro One would be delighted to enter into discussions to try to settle it.

I understand that the LDC has not seen the opinion before, and perhaps that would be helpful, but if we have those negotiations from the old traditional position that bypass hasn't occurred, then the parties are very, very far apart in dollar amounts.  But if something fruitful could possibly come out of it, Hydro One would be very pleased.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  And understand that if the parties continue to be far apart on that issue, the Board can decide to hear that issue regarding bypass, if that is where the parties end up.

So given that, the other question is the letter of Hydro One's response and whether or not it would be helpful in those discussions for Niagara-on-the-Lake to see that letter, or not.


Since it is Hydro One's letter, there is no issue, Ms. Sebalj, Hydro One giving it to Niagara-on-the-Lake if they so choose.

MS. SEBALJ:  Right.

MS. NOWINA:  So we will leave that to you, Mr. Engelberg, whether or not Hydro One wants to provide that letter to Niagara-on-the-Lake, if they perceive it to be helpful.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I will just need to review it after this issues conference ends today and take a look at it, and I will advise everyone today.

MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Sebalj, is there anything you would like to submit to the Board?

MS. SEBALJ:  I think, given that -- has a decision been made the parties will now go away --

MS. NOWINA:  It appears the parties are willing to go and have further discussions before we proceed.  So any points on that matter or any others?

MS. SEBALJ:  I guess the only point on that matter would be to be definitive about a timeline for the parties to return to the Panel with a statement of the progress that's been made and any prospect of settlement being reached.

I think that will be helpful, because the submissions I was going to make were basically options the Panel had with respect to either convening a hearing, which would require a different issues list or at least a more refined issues list, or to go back to a compliance-type of proceeding.

I do think that given the new information on the record, that giving that at least a fighting chance is not a bad idea.

So I won't go into any detail, because I think that if we're back in a few days or a few weeks, then I will be able to make my submissions at that time.

MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  Mr. Vlahos, Mr. Quesnelle, do you have any other questions for the parties?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  I just wanted...

This goes to the nature of this type of issue, as to whether or not -- and if Hydro One could comment as to whether or not you require something from this proceeding to inform you in any other areas with other entities, other LDCs, where there may be something that the Board is not aware of at this point about disputes about bypass?  

Were you looking for that, or do you need the Board to opine on bypass in this case?  Is that something that is a stance of Hydro One?


Is that hampering your negotiations to have a settlement that the Board need not opine on the bypass issue?  If the Board were to accept a settlement and without opining on the bypass issue, is that an objective of Hydro One's now?   Would that be an objective? 


There is no sense you starting negotiations if one of your outcomes is a requirement that the Board opine on bypass issues because we might as well do that here.  

MR. ENGELBERG:  I think the answer is that it would not be a requirement of Hydro One that that would be done.  I can't say it wouldn't be helpful for the Board to opine to Hydro One and other parties on the matter of bypass in distribution cases, because bypass in distribution matters is not so clear as it is under the Transmission System Code. 

So if the Board's enquiry in a proceeding would be broad enough to make a determination of distribution bypass principles, that would likely be helpful to Hydro One now and in the future, but I can't say that it is necessary for the Board to do so now in the context of the Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro decision.  

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Vlahos?  

Yes, sir.  

MR. RYAN:  In terms of our negotiations with Hydro One, there is an implication here relative to rate base.  

For example, whatever we agree to -- whatever the number is, whether it is one dollar or a million dollars -- there is money involved.  

Would those monies continue in the rate base?  

MS. NOWINA:  In Hydro One's rate base?  Or in Niagara-on-the-Lake?  

MR. RYAN:  No.  Niagara-on-the-Lake.  If, for example, to be very specific.  We have accrued and continue to charge our customers for this cost and we have set those monies aside.  

MS. NOWINA:  Right.  

MR. RYAN:  We have offered to settle on those monies.  If for instance it was $100,000 more or $150,000 more, would the utility be able to recover those costs?  

MS. SEBALJ:  If I may, I was actually going to speak partly to that point.  

MS. NOWINA:  Sure. 

MS. SEBALJ:  A couple of other things that came to mind, and Member Quesnelle, you have gotten into the substance of part of what I was going to make submissions on.  But a couple of points of clarification first.  

One is compliance involvement in the next however many days is something I think should be discussed, whether or not the parties are going off on their own to discuss, or whether this will be facilitated by compliance.  

The other was the Board's role, when it is returned, for lack of a better word, to the Panel.  

You mentioned the acceptance or approval or I can't remember the exact word of a settlement.  I am not sure whether that is necessarily what would happen, or not.  So that is something I think the Panel also needs to turn its mind to, is if we had a great turn of events and the parties came back saying, We have fully settled all of the issues, whether that is the end of the story and therefore the Panel no longer needs to be seized of this matter or whether the Panel wants to take some further action in reviewing the settlement or the nature of the settlement, which is not something I think that Board Staff would recommend but I just got a hint of that. 

MS. NOWINA:  It is a good point to clarify.  

I believe that what we were thinking -- so the parties know -- is giving the parties, giving Hydro One and Niagara-on-the-Lake an opportunity to reach an agreement themselves, without Board involvement, and without Board approval in the sense if you come back and tell us that was the amount you agreed on, then we could deal with the rates matter as a rates matter, given that that was the amount of moneys that had changed hands.  

We didn't anticipate making any kind of statement or finding on the compliance officer's letter, it just is what it is, nor any particular statement on the settlement other than the parties had reached an agreement and we were moving forward on the basis of that agreement.  

MS. SEBALJ:  So the way I sort of see it going forward is that the parties will take this opportunity to have further discussions in light of the information that has become clear today.  

That if a full settlement was reached, you would provide that information to the Board.  I am sure we don't need to all be here in person for that to happen but inform the Board in some manner.  

If not, then we would come back as a group to discuss next steps and at that point, the panel would be able to make a decision whether further time is needed or compliance involvement is required, or whether the panel now wants to rethink the issues list and perhaps consider a broader proceeding to consider the more generic issues associated with the Transmission System Code.  

I don't know if that is an appropriate characterization. 

MS. NOWINA:  I think that is an appropriate summary. 

MS. SEBALJ:  The rates issues of course will come out, one way or the other, whether it is a settlement or a Board determination, the question of whether the amount is recoverable on rates and how it is recoverable would be the next step.  

MS. NOWINA:  That's fine. 

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Ryan, just on that, to add to this.  I noticed that in the evidence as well, that you are talking about accrual and non-accrual.  

I think Ms. Sebalj was quite clear, the ratemaking issues that would flow from this.  The specific accounting, whether you accrue something, don't accrue something, that is pretty esoteric for the company.  It is not for this Board.  This Board looks at the ratemaking, not the accounting parts of the company.  Do you understand that, sir?  

MR. RYAN:  Yes, sir.  

MR. VLAHOS:  Because you brought it up again, the accrual thing, and I want to make sure that you understand that.  

MR. RYAN:  I do, sir, relative to the past, and I understand the difference between accrual and the rate.  

But on the -- the important thing is, what happens on the rates going forward for customers.  Clearly just rates.  Not accrual.  

MR. VLAHOS:  I believe the answer that Ms. Sebalj provided was clear to you?  

MR. RYAN:  Yes, thank you.  

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We don't want to give a lot of time to do this.  So a week to two weeks is what is in my mind.  Would the parties let me know, what do you think is appropriate?  

MR. ENGELBERG:  Hydro One is certainly willing to do this very quickly.  In response to a point that Ms. Sebalj made, I don't think it would be necessary or helpful to obtain the involvement of the compliance office, because the compliance office has given its opinion as to the principle, and I think at this point what the parties are looking -- would be looking to do is to make a business deal, to settle it, make payment, receive payment, and go their separate ways.  

So I don't think they need a facilitator in that regard.  

I anticipate that a settlement document that would be entered into at the end of settlement would simply say:  The LDC agrees to pay and Hydro One agrees to accept X amount of dollars for bypass occurring at Stanley TS between X date and Y date, yours very truly, and that would be it. 

MS. NOWINA:  I think that is appropriate.  Mr. Huntingdon?  

MR. HUNTINGDON:  Getting back to your question, yes, we think one to two weeks is appropriate.  So we will get together with Hydro One and have some additional discussions.  

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  

MR. ENGELBERG:  I have some concerns and perhaps I misheard, that Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro may have some concerns regarding the ratemaking, not as to the mechanism for putting anything into rates, but whether any amounts paid to Hydro One in settlement of this issue would be amounts that could be attributed to ratepayers rather than to shareholder, getting back to Mr. Vlahos' question.  

Perhaps it would be helpful -- I don't know if the Board can opine on that -- but perhaps it would be helpful, before the parties go to the table, if Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro could receive some guidance as to whether there is any possibility that any monies that they might have to pay to Hydro One as a result of a settlement might not be something that could be put upon the ratepayers, in some formula?  

MS. NOWINA:  I am not sure that we are in a position to say that right now, because we would have to look at what the rate situation was in Niagara-on-the-Lake, where they are in the midst of their rate proceedings.  

MS. SEBALJ:  Mr. Davies just reminds me that Niagara-on-the-Lake, of course, has just had a rate order.  So they're likely to be in the middle of an IRM period when this occurs.  We don't know at this point whether it will be a rate increase or rate decrease, depending on the discussions. 

Depending on that, there may be significant intervenor involvement, as well.  

Board Staff would have to have further discussions to determine whether its recommendation would be.  But intervenors obviously would be interested, if there is a significant rate increase.  

MS. NOWINA:  Exactly.  Which is why we cannot give an opinion on impact now.  It is not as though it isn't the normal type of expense which might be heard in a rate proceeding, but we are in the middle of an IRM period and there are a number of rules around rates in that --  

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you. 

MS. NOWINA:  -- in that sense.  

Timing.  Let's say a week from this Friday.  Who has a calendar?  What is the date a week from this Friday that would be the date we would expect to see you?

MR. ENGELBERG:  The 17th.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  So by July 17th we will expect to hear from both parties.  May we please hear from both of you?  If you have one document that you both signed, that would be lovely, if not, individual documents, letting us know what the status is at that point, and we will resume the proceeding, in some manner, after we have received that information from you.

Thank you very much.  Any further matters?  We are adjourned for today.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 11:22 a.m.
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